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Relating to restrictions on public officials and lobbyists, investigations of ethics violations, and 

implementing requirements of article XIV of the Constitution of North Dakota; relating to 

rulemaking procedures and requirements for the North Dakota ethics commission; to provide for 
a legislative management study; to provide a penalty; and to provide an appropriation. 
 

Minutes:                                                 Attachments: 1-11 

 

Chairman Hogue: Opened the hearing on SB 2148. 
 
Senator Mathern, District 11: See Attachment #1 for testimony as sponsor of the bill. 
See Attachments #2 and #3 for additional information provided to the committee. 
 
(5:15) Chairman Hogue: Claire Ness will walk through the bill. 
 
(5:40) Claire Ness, Attorney, Legislative Council Legal Division: Testified in neutral 
capacity on the bill to explain the bill.  
Section 1 Definitions 
Sections 2-20 Rules  
Section 21 Creates new chapter 54-66 incorporate new provisions for ethics commission 
Section 22 Study on provisions in Article XIV  
Section 23 Provides appropriation for operation 
 
(15:50) Senator Dever: Prior to the passage of Measure 1, North Dakota had the most open 
and accessible government in the country.  Necessary to that was the free and open flow of 
idea and conversation. It is my desire that whatever results from this, we are able to be as 
open, free, and accessible as we were able to. It seems to me that necessary to that, since 
ethics is no longer a matter of our discretion, but defined by others, that those rules be black 
and white and clear. Under the traditional scheme of things, the Constitution stands as a 
standard, and statute is measured against the Constitution and administrative rules flow from 
statute; now administrative rules will flow from the Constitution itself. Do they then supersede 
statute and other administrative rules? 
 
Claire Ness: We currently have very little experience with rule making authority delegated 
directly from the Constitution. Most administrated agencies, the executive branch agencies 
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get their rule making authority from statute. The closest analogy to what the Ethics 
Commission has would be the Judiciary Branch. The Supreme Court is allowed to make its 
own rules and that authority stems from the Constitution directly. That said, I am not aware 
of any case that directly looks at the weight that would be given to a rule adopted by an 
agency that is authorized directly from the Constitution to do so and a competing statute. You 
all are authorized to enact laws under the Constitution as well. I think it would be up to the 
courts to decide if there was a conflict and if there is, how it would be handled between those 
two.  
 
Senator Dever: If the rules under the Ethics Commission conflict with statue that would need 
to be decided in court? 
 
Claire Ness: I believe that is correct. 
 
Vice Chair Unruh: Do we have the authority to require this new Ethics Commission to go 
through the admin rules process? 
 
Claire Ness: That is questionable. One could argue that the Legislative Assembly does not 
have that authority since the rule making authority for the Ethics Commission does not stem 
from statues that you enacted. Normally, you act as a body that would overview an 
administrative rule because you have given those Executive Branch agencies the authority 
to adopt them, and in this case the Ethics Commission doesn’t need that authority from you. 
One could argue that the Legislative Assembly cannot put parameters around the process 
that would be used for those rules. However, the one caveat to that is that you have 
Subsection 1 of Section 4 that allows you to enact rules to facilitate Article XIV but not to 
hamper or impair Article XIV. It is unclear how that would be interpreted. 
 
Chairman Hogue:  Article XIV contains the definition of a gift and then it specifies what is 
not a gift. When I look at the draft of this bill and I see that the definition of gift was carried 
forward into the bill but the exclusion was not.  I wanted to make sure I understood why. 
 
Claire Ness: That would be a question for the sponsor of the bill. I cannot speak to the policy 
purposes behind the bill.  
 
Vice Chair Unruh: On Section 54-66-13 that requires the Attorney General to provide legal 
services to the Ethics Commission, again with questioning how the authority works here, can 
the Attorney General provide legal services to the Ethics Commission since they are separate 
or do they need their own access to legal counsel? 
 
Claire Ness: That is another question where there could be a conflict of interest. There is 
not any authority directly in Article XIV that would allow the Attorney General to provide that 
service to what might be considered another branch of the government. Typically, the 
Attorney General provides services to the Executive Branch. Nothing in Article XIV discusses 
that particular issue.  
 
Chairman Hogue:  I have invited Kara Erickson to come and explain to us how it works in 
the Judicial Branch. 
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(22:39) Senator Mathern:  I had Claire Ness prepare the amendments to the bill. We do 
have someone with a chart on how the amendments incorporate into the bill.  
 
Senator Dever:  It seems to me that 54-66-02 says that commission members will begin 
their term on July 1st   and the bill takes effect Aug 1st; should that also be included in the 
emergency clause?  
 
Claire Ness: The appointments need to be made by July 1st. It does not mean that the bill 
has to kick in by that date but you may want to add an emergency clause if you want them 
to be in effect by the time that the commission members are appointed.  
 
Senator Dever: I thought it sad that their terms begin on July 1st.  
 
Claire Ness: You are correct. They would be appointed and they would be in place on July 
1st but the bill would start Aug 1st. You would not have to add and emergency clause, but if 
you want the provisions in the bill to apply to the first month they are in office, then you would 
want to change that.  
 
Senator Dever: My second question has to do with what I think is unintended consequence.  
I don’t believe that either the sponsoring committee or the legislature would expect that 
private citizens would be required to report expenditures of over $200 to influence state 
government action. I look at Section 1, Subsection 2, and that first full sentence is 
approximately half of that paragraph and it does not indicate that it applies to lobbyists and it 
does not provide any exclusions. Is that relieved by the amendment in the bill that says the 
definition of a lobbyist does not include a private citizen? 
 
Claire Ness: The definition of a lobbyist is to inform other provisions in the Article XIV. So 
there are the prohibition gifts from lobbyists to public officials. There is the prohibition on 
lobbyists serving to deliver campaign contributions. Where I think you are going to get more 
information about Subsection 2 of Section 1, with the reporting requirements, would be in a 
definition of what are the ultimate and true source of funds. That is not addressed in here. 
That is part of the Legislative Management study.  
 
Senator Dever:  It says that the Ethics Commission can levy penalties as proposed. You 
mentioned a $10,000 fine, and in the same paragraph it talks about a Class A misdemeanor. 
Can the Ethics Commission also find guilty on that, and then it also talks about on the 
preponderance of the evidence?  
 
Claire Ness: The Ethics Commission would not be able to find someone guilty of a crime, 
that penalty is in there just as it is worded in other provisions for law enforcement to carry out 
and for the judicial process to play out. The Ethics Commission would be allowed to impose 
fines. 
 
Senator Dever: So then due process would apply if it went into criminal process?  
 
Claire Ness: Correct. 
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Senator Poolman: I just have a clarifying question. 56-66-10, on confidential information, it 
mentions that the records are confidential until the Ethics Commission issues its findings, so 
even if there is nothing found, does it all still become public record? 
 
Claire Ness: That is correct. 
 
Chairman Hogue:  We will get into some of the distinctions between this bill and the house 
bill. The house bill does draw a distinction between complaints that are not regarded by the 
commission as being substantial and therefore are kept confidential; as opposed to this bill 
which does not contain that provision.  We will get into those distinctions at a later hearing, 
so don’t feel you have to ask about the differences between the bills. 
 
Vice Chair Unruh: On the legislative management study, you mentioned that the ultimate 
and true source of funds definition is proposed to be studied here; do we have enough time 
to study that and enact legislation before the end of the next legislative session? 
 
Claire Ness: We do. The ultimate and true source of funds provision is Subsection 2, of 
Section 1 of Article XIV and the deadline for implementation and enacting legislation is 
January 5th of 2022 for that provision. 
 
Vice Chair Unruh: Does the rest of the study have the same deadline? 
 
Claire Ness: The study of Subsection 1 of Section 2 of Article XIV has a deadline for 
implementation of January 5th of 2021. It is highly unlikely the Legislative Assembly would be 
able to enact anything for that deadline for that subsection.  
 
Chairman Hogue: I have asked Kara to come and give us some background on how the 
judicial conduct commission office functions because that has oversight responsibility for 
lawyers and judges. They have been doing it well and for a long time.   
 
(30:05) Kara Erickson, Director, Office of Disciplinary Council: Testified in a neutral 
capacity for informational purposes to the committee and at the Chairman’s request. I run the 
Office of Disciplinary Council which handles the Judicial Conduct Commission and the 
disciplinary board. Basically, I handle judicial ethics. In my office we do the investigations of 
all complaints that come in and screen those complaints. We also prepare reports based on 
those complaints and then we are the prosecutors in the event that something arises to a 
matter where there needs to be a prosecution. At that time, when we do prosecute a case, it 
becomes public record. All the filings and all the information within that prosecution is public. 
My office is the closest thing to what you are trying to enact right now. So, I am here for 
questions you might have as to our processes and how our office runs.  
 
(31:29) Senator Mathern: The question I have relates to the appropriation in this bill. The 
appropriation talks about a director, an attorney, and an administrative assistant. With your 
system, what staff do you have and what is your appropriation each biennium? 
 
Kara Erickson: Each biennium we have a budget of approximately $1.2 million. We have 2 
attorneys, 2 legal assistants, and 1 para legal that is part time. The vast majority of our 
membership that we work with in the disciplinary system for both the attorneys and judges 
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are volunteers. There is no appropriation that has been designated to them apart from travel 
to hearings and things like that.  
 
Chairman Hogue: Can you give us some background on the number of individual who are 
subject to your oversight and the number of complaints that you typically get in a calendar 
year?  
 
Kara Erickson:  We tend to see about 180 complaints a year on average for attorneys. 
Nationally speaking that has gone down and our state has followed. This year we are at 
about 150 complaints. We currently have 3033 attorneys in North Dakota. Those are all 
subject to our provisions within the rules for lawyer discipline and the rules of professional 
conduct for North Dakota. In addition, any attorneys that come into our state that practice 
when they really shouldn’t be, they are also subject to our jurisdiction and can be disciplined. 
With respect to judges, I have 140 judges that we handle. Additionally, we handle all judicial 
candidates. So, anyone who puts their name in for an office as well as people to be seated 
in the disciplinary system for lawyers they are also subject to the code of judicial conduct 
when they seated in the panels who are issuing decision.  This year we are down for judicial 
conduct complaints. That is in part due to the large changeover we have had in the judiciary.   
 
Chairman Hogue:  It sounds like 3200 people you are providing oversight to, and you get 
about 150 to 180 complaints. Can you describe how you separate what you regard as a 
meritorious complaint verses repeat complainants?  
 
Kara Erickson:  We handle things differently on the judge side verses the attorney side. On 
the attorney side, if there is a complaint that comes in and it triggers any of the rules of 
professional conduct; if there is anything that is implicated that could remotely be seen as a 
violation. Not something that is an appeal or something that is saying they want a new 
attorney – those types of cases are investigated by us. In the investigations process, we will 
receive a complaint from the individual involved, and we are required to have them in writing. 
Then we will get the response from the attorney and we will do an investigation that will 
usually consist of calling all those involved, looking at the case records, and putting together 
an investigative report. That report goes to complainant and the respondent attorney, and 
they have an opportunity to appear for the first time in front of an inquiry committee (which is 
our probable cause panel that determines whether lesser discipline should be imposed or if 
it is something that goes to those public formal hearings. On the judicial side, we screen and 
we see if there is anything that is implicated for the code of judicial conduct. We have a little 
bit more discretion on the judicial conduct side of things. We do have to run things past, both 
the lawyer side and judicial side, to get those summary dismissals. We have no adjudicative 
authority in our office at all. Any decisions that are being made are being made by one of 
those two entities.  On the judicial comment commission side of things, we will send a letter 
to the judge asking them to respond to the allegations, and provide any information we may 
need. Before we send that letter we will often times pull the docket information, transcripts of 
hearings, and we will go ahead and get that information to minimize the contact and impact 
on the judge so they can continue to perform their function. Once we get the letter in response 
from the judge, we prepare a memo for the judicial comment commission to relay what the 
investigative finding were. Once that happens they make an indetermination list as to how to 
proceed with any informal discipline or formal discipline.  
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Chairman Hogue:  At what point does the complaint made by the complainant become 
public? 
 
Kara Erickson:  Typically the complaint does not become public by the calling of it. On 
occasion, if there is an appeal to the Supreme Court for lawyer discipline, we will stipulate 
that it needs to become public so that the Supreme Court has adequate information and can 
assess the underlying issue. Most frequently, if it goes to a public matter, I am the one serving 
the summons and petition for discipline. My documents are what become public. Part of that 
is sometimes there are things that individual complain of but it won’t rise to the level of 
discipline so it is a weeding out process.   
 
(40:25) Gregory Stites, North Dakota Attorney representing North Dakotans for Public 
Integrity: See Attachment #4 for testimony in support of SB 2148. 
 
(48:20) Chairman Hogue:  In your opinion, how do you feel about our disciplinary system 
for lawyers? 
 
Greg Stites: The legal process has been excellent. The system works well. It is fair and 
appropriate.  I believe there is not only safe guards to make sure that complaints that are not 
meritorious don’t somehow get exposed. Then if someone has broken the rules and has 
become unethical, then I believe the way that they have scheduled their penalties and 
methodology seems to be fair.  
 
Senator Anderson:  These initiated measures that effect the Constitution should by in large 
stand on their own and that we shouldn’t be making laws that reinterpret what they already 
say. However, there are gray areas. Most of the people in the room are not here because 
they oppose the process or disagree with it, but they are here to make sure that they don’t 
run afoul with it in trying to do the job for their clients. The questions we need to answer are 
when you talk about a gift? What is a gift? Additionally, the question comes around on 
reporting. There we are trying to get the true source of the funds? What do I report? That is 
what we need to answer. (Gave Examples).  
 
Greg Stites: I can only say that the way Measure 1 was designed, and then implemented as 
Article XIV, your concerns are very valid. The way that it is intended to happen; it is so 
important to have the interim study because that is going to provide the opportunity to answer 
all of the questions about Section 1, Subsection 2 which is the transparency section. It does 
not go into effect for 3 years, and would give all interested parties to come and make sense 
of that and determine what is appropriate under this Article XIV in a logical way. If there is 
further legislation or new laws that need to define things, you could handle that responsibly 
in 2 years. In terms of the gift issue, I can tell you that is the role or responsibility of the Ethics 
Commission. They are to promulgate rules related to gifts and exceptions to gifts. If it says it 
clearly as to what is appropriate and not appropriate gift, then it should all be taken care of.   
Rulemaking will require them to have public hearings.  
 
Senator Anderson: You just exempted them from the administrative agencies practice act 
which requires public hearings. There is nothing that says that Ethics Commission as to have 
public hearings. I did not see anything in the constitutional measure about that.  
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Greg Stites: That is true because of the constitutional authority to do rules. I am saying that 
I believe the Governor and the Senate will choose the members of the Ethics Commission 
and they will be subject to public scrutiny and I believe they would only adopt a process that 
is equal to the Administrative Practices Act or very akin to it. How would they dare not do 
that?  
 
Vice Chair Unruh: I agree with everything you have said. I am trying to understand the 
legislature’s role in this is in bill and Article XIV as we try and enact laws to enable this to 
move forward. This is a logistical question. Based on the outline of the amendments you 
gave us, Subsection 2 of Section 1 states that the legislative assembly shall implement and 
enforce this section by enacting, no more than 3 years after the effective date of this article, 
and then it continues on and talks about the ultimate and true source of funds. That same 
language is used saying that the Ethics Commission needs to adopt rules within 2 years of 
the effective date of the article to define further what a gift is, but if you move to Subsection 
5 of Section 2, it says that this subsection shall take effect 3 years after the effective date of 
this article. I am reading them differently. I think Subsection 5 has the delayed effective date 
but I am not sure that Subsection 2 of Section 1 and Subsection 1 of Section 2 have that 
same delayed effective date. I still think that we are possibly all subject to what is written 
here. We can delay the rule making process for that, but we still need to know what a gift is 
now, and then what true and ultimate source of funds means because we are subject to those 
now I believe. 
 
Chairman Hogue:  Do you agree? 
 
Greg Stites: In response to the gifts and when it kicks in, if you look on page 3 of my analysis, 
it is very clear near the bottom of the last paragraph, where it says that such rules may be 
adopted within two years after the effective date of this article so as to allow for the adoption 
of these rules. These prohibitions take effect two years after the effective date of this article. 
The gift prohibition clearly does not until 1/5/2021. In terms of Subsection 2 of Section 1, that 
is right in the language at the top where it states the legislative assembly shall implement 
and enforce this by enacting no more than 3 years after the effective date laws that require 
the prompt reporting etc. Clearly there is 3 years and nothing between now and then. 
 
Chairman Hogue: You had indicated that you had removed the initial portions of the original 
draft of 2148 based on the direction or the conclusion that since the commission is a 
constitutional body, it is not appropriate to subject it to the Administrative Agencies Practices 
Act. I have two related questions about that. One, is there anything in Article XIV that prohibits 
the commission from having to go through the same process as every other agency? Second, 
what it is about a constitutional body that would say that the legislature could not put 
reasonable rules on their manor of operation? 
 
Greg Stites: There are very few other constitutionally created entities like the Ethics 
Commission. There is no question about it. All I can say is if you look at the provisions of 
Article XIV in Section 4, it is very clear that it says that laws to be enacted by the legislative 
assembly can facilitate, safeguard, and expand but not hamper, restrict or impair this article. 
The article clearly says that the Ethics Commission has the authority to make rules. I could 
see a scenario where so long as whatever parts of the administrative practices act that were 
attempted to be thrust upon the ethics commission, so long as the court would rule that those 
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restrictions in no way hampered, restricted, or impaired the intent of this, they could maybe 
withstand constitutional scrutiny. But, it could go just the other way. The could follow them if 
they want but don’t have to. I think evidence of that would be the fact that there are many 
commissions and boards that don’t follow the Administrative Practices Act. 
 
(1:01:22) Chairman Hogue: It does sort of go back and forth between the authority of the 
legislature to impose fines and criminal sanctions and the authority of the Ethics Commission 
to adopt rules. The gift one is one that is very specific. It says the commission shall adopt a 
rule pertaining to gifts. Do you have any thoughts on what that should look like?   
 
Greg Stites: My opinion is that they would put together a set of rules that would make it 
permissible. In other words, Article XIV wants to encourage legislators meeting with members 
of the public in social and educational settings. They say, let’s make rules so that could be 
done in a manner that doesn’t give rise to any ethical concerns. They would have to address 
the conditions under which meetings would be held.  
   
Senator Poolman:  I just want to go back to my question regarding Section 3 of Article XIV 
where it sets up the anonymous whistleblower hotline. Then when we have the section saying 
that all complaints become public record; do you believe that it is the intent of Article XIV to 
insure that any anonymous phone call or accusation should become public regardless of 
merit? It seems to me that would be something that could be very easily used in any 
campaign ad etc. Is that the intent or not? 
 
Greg Stites: I think clearly the hotline is confidential and it would not be subject to the open 
records or open meetings. The information provided would be confidential and it would not 
be later disclosed.  
 
Senator Poolman: That is where I need some clarification. Under 54-66-10 it is all released 
later on. Once the investigation is completed it is all released. It appears that it is any 
complaint regardless of how it comes to the commission. It is just a sincere question. Do you 
believe that is the intent?  
 
Greg Stites: I don’t believe it is the intent.   
 
(1:06:20) Vice Chair Unruh:  In Subsection 2 of Section 1, That is the part that has the 
delayed date for the legislative assembly to determine what the public disclosure of the 
ultimate and true source of funds spent, I want to make sure I understand the effective date. 
If we wait and study this over the next 2 years - in the meantime, how do we determine what 
ultimate and true source of funds means? 
 
Greg Stites: I believe that the 3 years’ effective date is clear that the reporting is not required 
until after that period and that the next 2 years is going to be spent developing what I call the 
box that this will be put into. There will be legislation required 2 years from now that will vest 
one or more entities. This really discusses vesting one or more entities with the ability to 
enforce and manage this process. Clearly there will need to be more definition on what the 
ultimate and true source means. That will come to you from a variety of interested parties. I 
can only say that the laws that you will need to promulgate as a result of that you must take 
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from the intent of Article XIV which is up in Subsection 1. Also, back in Section 4 that talks 
about not passing any laws to hinder or frustrate the purposes of Article XIV. 
 
Chairman Hogue:  I have one question on the standing provision. Could your organization, 
if they did not like what the legislature did, I suppose they would be free to hire you to come 
in and have the court review what the legislature does. Is that true?  
 
Greg Stites: I believe that is broad enough to say that a resident that believes the intent of 
Article XIV has been frustrated in some way by the legislature or the Ethics Commission or 
by the Ethics Commission not carrying out its role in enforcement, can do that.   
 
Vice Chair Unruh:  More questions keep coming to me as keep reading this. Section 4, 
Subsection 2, defines what a public office or public official means and it is a rather extensive 
definition and it appears to include all state employees – is that correct? 
 
Greg Stites: It does I believe.   
 
Vice Chair Unruh:  Does that extend down into local government as well? 
 
Greg Stites: No. 
 
(1:11:50) Ellen Chaffee, Senior Consultant, Association of Governing Boards of 
Universities and Colleges: See Attachments #5 and #6 for testimony in favor of the bill. 
 
(1:18:06) Chairman Hogue:  On the financial disclosures that are currently going in the 
Secretary of State’s office – do you see that staying there? Or do you think this measure 
requires that to be brought under the Ethics Commission’s umbrella? 
 
Ellen Chaffee: I see that saying in the Secretary of State’s office. Exactly how it is 
implemented; the transparency piece definitely applies. As to how deep the revelation of 
donors goes I don’t know. I foresee some discussion about that in the future.  
 
Senator Anderson:  Can you answer my question on disclosures?  
 
Ellen Chaffee: It is reported in the aggregate and the individual as I understand it. A number 
of people from around the country contributed to the Measure 1 and as individual people they 
are identified. Some of them contributed through these national organizations. Most of the 
money that is reported from the national organizations is actually in kind services – where 
they provided us with advice. Otherwise it came from the organizations operating funds.  
 
Senator Anderson:  My point is this.  If the true and actual source of funds means that we 
need to find out the individual who gave that money or if the checks are adequate? That is 
the question all these people need to know because every one of them worked for some 
organization that gives campaign contributions toward measures, and when the public says 
they believe too much out of state money influences what goes on in North Dakota; 80% of 
the money for Measure 1 came from out of state. So, the perception that the public has is 
valid. Out of state money is effecting North Dakota. The corporation that many of these 
people work from might be based in some other state but they are here doing business and 
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are trying to effect what goes on in North Dakota. They have that concern about how we 
accurately report where the money for Measure 1 came from? 
 
Ellen Chaffee: As of Nov. 6th, I have no standing to answer any of those questions. I can 
give you opinions about things. Article XIV belongs to the people of North Dakota, and what 
it says is that certain people, the right people, are supposed to be deciding those things. The 
legislature is supposed to be deciding some of them and the Ethics Commission is supposed 
to be deciding others of them. I know it is frustrating to have these uncertainties, but if we 
view them as opportunities to do the right thing and to make it turn out in a way that is ethical 
and honest and transparent and has integrity for the state of North Dakota, the legislators 
and people, then we can hang onto those things and go ahead and make the right things 
happen. Rather than worrying about who is looking over my shoulder when I don’t know what 
to do. Let’s just figure out what is to be done.   
 
Vice Chair Unruh:  I agree and I hope that we are all here to make sure that we can do what 
the people wanted us to do with the measure. To build a little bit on the question that Senator 
Anderson asked. We talked about how after the election you did not have the standing to 
help us try to and interpret this, but I would like to know what you had in your mind as for the 
gifting clause going forward. What is your vision for what that looks like going forward? 
 
Ellen Chaffee: I think I have the same vision you have.  We want that open contact between 
legislators and the people. Frankly, that is one of the motivating forces for those of us that 
worked on this. A lot of times the legislators are too busy with interest groups and industries 
to have time for the people. I know it is a tremendous challenge, but we don’t want to restrict 
public access to their legislators. 
 
Senator Mathern:  Are you supportive of the amendments I brought forward, and is that the 
preference of the North Dakota group to adopt those amendments? 
 
Ellen Chaffee: Yes. We support it. 
 
(1:25:35) Arik Spencer, President and CEO, Greater North Dakota Chamber: See 
Attachment #7 for testimony in opposition of the bill.  
 
(1:29:35) Senator Anderson:  I sense that your interest here, even though some of these 
things don’t start for 2 years, is to do the right thing and get ahead of what will be required if 
you can.   
 
Arik Spencer: That is correct. 
 
Senator Mathern:  I echo that comment. That really is the intent of the citizen committee. 
They want to clarify too. They are just outlining a process. The amendments I proposed are 
available. We learned in the process that there are ways to make it better.  
 
Chairman Hogue: Closed the hearing on SB 2148. 
 
See Attachments #8 to #11 for additional testimony provided to the committee.  
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Chairman Hogue: Opened the hearing for SB 2148. 
 
Senator Dever, District 32: See Attachment #1 for testimony. 
 
(7:40) Senator Mathern: You brought up the national conference of state legislatures, and 
they have a robust section of staff materials that are available to our states regarding ethics 
and the different commissions around the country; I am wondering if you met with Mr. 
Birdsong or anyone at NCSL? Have you discussed this legislation with them? 
 
Senator Dever: I have not but I did see your e-mail that you extended an invitation for them 
to come to North Dakota, and that may not be a bad idea.  
 
Senator Mathern: See Attachment #2 for handout for a letter from those willing to come. 
Their views might be helpful to us at some point.  
 
Senator Dever: I did say that I try to listen to anyone and everyone, and I have a great 
respect for the NCSL.  
 
Senator Oban: I am sure I could ask this in committee discussion, but since you decided to 
step up to the podium, why not ask the question with regard to some of your comments here? 
I get the distinct impression that, as the bill was introduced, you don’t necessarily agree with 
it and that the amendment that was already shared with the committee you don’t agree with 
that either. Are you going to be sharing with us any proposals to make the bill better? 
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Senator Dever: I suspect that those things will be part of our discussion and will come about. 
As the bill was introduced and as it is proposed to be amended, it seems to be to be taking 
a big hammer after a problem that is not nearly so extensive as would be represented.  
 
(11:05) Geoff Simon, former Chairman, Coalition of North Dakotans for Sound 
Government: See Attachment #3 for testimony in opposition of the bill.  
 
(18:30) Senator Mathern: You note in your testimony the concern about the ethics 
commission and its authority, and I agree with you that it does have authority and the 
Constitution does in fact require us to have an Ethics Commission. I am wondering if you 
have thought of who you would like to be on the Ethics Commission, and have you submitted 
their names? That is one of the processes that this bill tries to bring forward is to find out who 
the people will be and get them to start making some of the decisions as the Constitution 
now requires.  
 
Geoff Simon: We have developed that list of names, and it has been shared with those that 
make that decision. We are looking for the wise and veterans that understand the policy 
making process and who would make good decisions here. Frankly, I would have preferred 
a measure on the ballot that would have stated that the legislature “shall” create an ethics 
commission so that you have some idea what it’s responsibility and its limitations may be.  
 
Senator Mathern: You have put together a list; would you trust those people to address your 
concerns that you have raised in your testimony today? 
 
Geoff Simon: I would trust them but I don’t think they will have very much to do. 
 
Chairman Hogue: The ultimate and true source term that is found in Section 1.2 of Article 
XIV; I know that is defined in the House bill, do you think that definition is adequate, or do 
you have a different definition in mind? 
 
Geoff Simon: That is a difficult question.  I have no idea what that term means. The ultimate 
and true source of funds– it is probably the US Treasury. That is where the bills are printed 
aren’t they? I don’t know what it means. I think in their zeal to get after whatever “dark money” 
they felt was out there, the sponsoring committee wrote language that they felt was as broad 
as possible. Now, it is up to legislature to determine just what those words mean. 
 
Senator Oban: I have a hard time understanding if one of your largest shared concerns, with 
the number of the members who opposed the measure, is specifically about the language in 
Section 1, Subsection 2, why would you be opposed to, when the effective date does not go 
into effect for 3 years, not support an interim study to have a thoughtful discussion and try to 
bring people together about what that means? 
 
Geoff Simon: I believe the concern is that those reporting requirements are going to be in 
effect retroactive – that the activities and activities that we perform and whatever gifts that 
we might give in the previous two years, any of those activities would be reported upon 
implementation or the effective date of the language. So, we have to know if we are doing 
things right today because we are going to have to report those activities down the road. That 
is the concern of the organization and why we would like to know. What is the expectation? 
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(23:18) Kathy Tweeten, retired from NDSU Extension Service, and Director, Center for 
Community Vitality and State Specialist for Community Economic and Leadership 
Development: See Attachment #4 for testimony in favor of the bill.   
 
(31:50) Senator Oban: I would like to ask how you would respond to the claim and concern 
that was provided by Jeff about the timing. Do you feel or is it retroactive? Do they have a 
reason to be concerned about what their actions are now verses what may come if there was 
an interim study to try to flesh out those issues? 
 
Kathleen Tweeten: No, I do not believe so. I would like Mr. Stipes as a person who knows 
the legal ins and outs to respond to that as well.   
 
Chairman Hogue: I want to make sure I understand your position. You support SB 2148 as 
amended with Senator Mathern’s amendments?  
 
Kathleen Tweeten: Yes, but there are some more amendments that you have not seen that 
I think you need to see.  
 
Chairman Hogue: Those are Senator Mathern’s? 
 
Kathleen Tweeten: Yes.  
 
Senator Anderson: Most of the lobbyist that are here are trying to get their act together so 
that they do things right now that Article XIV is in place. They have said they would like to 
start tomorrow. For example, in regards of gifts, some think that we eat and drink at expense 
of lobbyists. Most of the time it is not more than $50 they give someone in an evening, but it 
is a perception that the public has. Whether it is accurate or not we don’t know, but if I should 
not be letting people buy me dinner, I would like to know that tomorrow if it is what is stated 
in Article XIV. Those are the questions that are left unanswered right now. Obviously we can 
appoint the Ethics Commission and wait and then next session we have one more year to do 
this stuff. What were you thinking when you were working on this committee? Another 
question is the true and ultimate source of funds. We talked about NCSL, I recently went and 
they reimbursed me for the travel room while I was there. If you really look at the true source 
of funds, many of those activities were sponsored by some organization. It was not the 
government paying for me to go.  What is the true and direct source of funds you were looking 
for? Those are the questions that we are trying to answer here. I would have thought that the 
organizing committee would have set the example for us and exposed the true and direct 
source of funds.  The last question I have is about the whistle blower line. It states that is 
confidential, but it also says as long as the person is acting in good faith. How do we 
determine if they are acting in good faith if we don’t know who they are? You can write that 
down and get it back to the committee, or you can respond now if you like.  
 
Kathleen Tweeten: I appreciate you saying that you can write the answers down. I do want 
to respond to the last part. There is a clarification of the confidentiality piece. I know that will 
be brought up here. On the true source of funds, that is part of that question of really digging 
in and making sure that we do it right. And that we identify what we mean by that. (Gave 
example of churches and reporting money given etc.) It takes time and energy and thought 
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and Constitutional expertise to explain. We don’t want to hurry this. We don’t want to put a 
bunch of stuff in the books to have to go back and clean up all the garbage. That is not the 
intent of this. In regard to the gifts, that is not in effect right now. We want to get it right, and 
that is what the interim study is for. There is nothing more than that intended. The information 
needs to be gathered and a plan needs to be derived. The Ethics Commission will be there 
to answer questions. It is not to penalize. They will have a much bigger job than taking 
complaints.  
 
(42:30) Vice Chair Unruh: You mentioned a couple of things that I am curious about. You 
mentioned taking a look at and studying the gifts clause to see what it means and you also 
mentioned the hotline and explaining what confidential means a bit further. As I read the 
measure, it looks to me like the Ethics Commission is responsible for adopting those rules, 
not the legislature. Do you expect the legislature to address those issues or the Ethics 
Commission to address those issues? 
 
Kathleen Tweeten: I believe it is the Ethics Commission that will be writing the rules. 
 
Vice Chair Unruh: I ask that because you mentioned some amendments that Senator 
Mathern will be bringing forward on the confidential piece. I am trying to figure out our role 
moving forward. 
 
Kathleen Tweeten: I guess we will wait till Senator Mathern has time to tell you about those.  
 
(44:32) Christopher Dodson, Executive Director, North Dakota Catholic Conference: 
See Attachment #5 for testimony in a neutral capacity on the bill.  
 
(56:02) Vice Chair Unruh: You talked about the effective date on the ultimate and true 
source of funds; I think it can be read two different ways.  I cannot help but wonder if those 
words are already in effect as of January 2019, but we are required to implement laws to take 
them a step further before 2021. 
 
Christopher Dodson: That is correct. The measure is effective now. Meaning that the clock 
began ticking for that particular provision and the other ones have different effective dates.  
 
Vice Chair Unruh: I think that Section 1.2 effective date reads differently than the gift Section 
2.1 which does clearly state that we have 2 years before that section goes into effect.  Section 
1.2 appears to be in effective now. 
 
Christopher Dodson: In regard to Section 1.2, you have to implement the rules to inforce 
the disclosure triggers. What is subject to those triggers is revealing the ultimate and true 
source of funds? If that money that is spent after January 5, 2022, was given in 2019, that is 
the name of the person that has to be revealed after 2022. That is our main concern in 
regards to giving. We don’t know what the rules are now. If you implement it without any 
parameters, we would have to reveal all of those parishioners. 
 
Senator Anderson: I like your idea of using the definitions we have in Century Code now as 
well as the ethics provisions we currently have. Apparently, 54% of the public did not think 
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that what we do now, and that is why we have Article XVI. Do you agree or disagree with 
that? 
 
Christopher Dodson: In part yes, but I have gotten to the point where we never know why 
a voter votes the way they do. The fact is that it has been adopted and you have a job to 
implement it. Keep in mind something else, there is this question about implementing and 
also there is a question about the word usurp – usurping the role of the ethic commission. 
You certainly cannot do that with 1.2, but also, you have plenary power. You could enact 
legislation regarding ethics now. You don’t have to wait for any implementation. If you think 
these are good rules now, you can do that. You don’t have wait for an interim study and you 
don’t have to wait for the Ethics Commission. Maybe that is what the people wanted you to 
do. There is no reason to wait if you want certainty now. 
 
Senator Anderson: We do have those things now. The difference is that we are asked to 
report what we spent that on in detail. My question is if what we are doing now not adequate, 
and what legislation do we have to put forward to remedy that? 
 
Christopher Dodson: You have obligations under the Constitution now to implement this 
according to the measure. Everything I am suggesting is consistent with the new 
constitutional provisions.  
 
Senator Mathern: You speak about this person putting the money in, and the Catholic 
Church does raise a lot of money. What about the alternative of a widow that may give her 
$5 and wants it to be used to feed children and not used for lobbying? Does the Catholic 
Church have a provision wherein it can assure her that her $5 is used in the charitable act of 
feeding children?  
 
Christopher Dodson: You might know that better than I do. It may be possible. I will say 
this; that requiring a segregation of funds like that really interferes with the religious identity 
of an organization. You were there with the establishment of the Catholic Conference for a 
reason because it was an essential and integral part of who we are as Catholics. Not to be 
separate from the rest of the mission. You could identify and put money into a certain thing, 
but when you give to the general purpose, it would be wrong for the state to say that you 
need to segregate that money because it would be interfering with how we identify ourselves 
and our own religious identity.  
 
(1:03:02) Richard Jensen, Fargo Resident: Testified in favor of the bill. I worked on this 
campaign quite heavily. You have a hard job and I am learning that.  I have respect for your 
job. Speak to some truths here. The role of a lobbyist is to persuade and influence.  I am 
here to get you to open your minds. I don’t think the people think there is a lot of corruption, 
but that there is potential for it and we are seeing that across the nation. I come from the 
place of developing the workforce for individuals who support folks with disability. We are 
always looking at understanding what is a mandated reporter who can cross the lines of what 
is abuse. And defining abuse is important. Here we are talking about some very mature lines. 
We need to get the commission going and let them start the work to get things certain.  I 
know it is your job to put certainty in the situation. We are seeing that we need this so people 
understand the parameters. I want to impress upon you the importance of slowing things 
down and make sure we are doing things right. I see you are being pulled to make some 
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things defined now and you need to slow own and do this right. The people have spoken but 
please take no offense.  
 
(1:09:07) Chairman Hogue: We are pulled in two different directions. My question is what 
information or knowledge do we not have today that we will acquire in the interim that 
prevents us from acting now?  
 
Richard Jensen: I think you do a lot of writing on laws that affect the state.   
 
Chairman Hogue: Yes, I am on the Uniform Law Commission. 
 
Richard Jensen: Making sure that it is constitutionally sound. That would be the key.  
 
Senator Anderson: When you talk that we should not worry about this hammer that is 
coming. We had provisions in place and if you listened to Senator Dever earlier, we thought 
that we were doing a pretty good job, but now are being told we are not. I understand when 
you say, let’s just take it to court, but someone has to pay the bill for that. We are defending 
a lawsuit on a board that I am associated with now for two pieces of legislation that we passed 
last time. We are at about $750,000 now and we haven’t even gotten to court yet.  You could 
imagine the cost if we have to go all the way to court. The people of North Dakota have to 
pay the bill.  
 
Richard Jensen: I would say that we would not see that ultimately. Hopefully we get it right 
the first time. Providing the constitutionality. I don’t want to see it go that far. In the end it is 
not one united people if that happens.   I do not know what has pushed the people forward. 
I have not been able to pull back any curtains. There were no big rumors being spread during 
the campaign. I think it is more of recognizing that there is potential danger and we have 
seen this through history. A lot of it is driven by big business.  I am asking for honesty and 
truthfulness.   
 
(1:16:18) Joshua Gallion, State Auditor: See Attachment #6 for testimony in a neutral 
position on the bill.   
 
(1:22:10) Senator Anderson: All of your money gets appropriated by the legislature that you 
spend in your office. Have you ever felt constrained in your activities by the fact that these 
47 senators might not vote for your budget if you did not do what they individually or 
collectively said? 
 
Joshua Gallion: We will do our job down to the best of our ability within the appropriations 
that we are given. We have never felt fear of retribution. 
 
Senator Anderson: I thought that might be your answer. The inference here is that if you 
get the money from someone, you might do just what we say or the chairman says because 
we have control over your budget.   
 
Chairman Hogue: I want to make sure I understand. Your concern is that the state’s Ethics 
Commission gets up and established, it will either overlap or it would potentially preempt your 
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statutory and constitutional authority to investigate state agencies and public officials what 
you regard as ethical rules that are established. Is that your concern? 
 
Joshua Gallion: Somewhat. There is so much is not known on how this will impact state 
government and what they define as ethics may be different than what we define as ethics. 
Is this going to create a scenario where now we have to report our findings to the ethics 
commission? That could negatively impact our ability to work with state government agencies 
and some of the independence we hold important. Again, making sure we have the ability to 
draw those boundaries is important for the independence and the authority of the auditor’s 
office. 
 
(1:25:30) Senator Mathern: See Attachment #7 for amendments proposed to the 
committee. I believe we need to do the prior set of amendments that I already handed out 
but I am offering these in addition to address some of the concerns. Essentially, the first set 
deals with confidentiality. I tried to address 3 issues; source of funds, gifts and bias. Clarifies 
gifts not effective till 2021.  (Gave a summary).  
 
(1:34:00) Senator Anderson: My question is why do you think it will be clearer 2 years down 
the road? I am not sure how it is going to be much clearer 2 years from today.  
 
Senator Mathern: I have heard each of you articulate a point of view that I did not hear 
before. You all add something to this discussion. All of us together can make a better decision 
together. A major piece of this is creating an Ethics Commission and I believe these will be 
people that we generally respect. Maybe people who have experience in being Sampson. 
These will be people that the citizens will see as out of the fray of these tough dilemmas that 
you and I have about these. The Ethics Commission itself adds that value that we can take 
part in. I have an idea of who these people might be. It is up to Governor and the majority 
and minority leaders. I think that process will bring people forward that will help us in the 
dilemma you suggest.  
 
Senator Anderson: I think those 5 people will be no more capable than the ones that are 
sitting here. The difference will be that they will have the authority.  
 
(1:37:15) Chairman Hogue: See Attachment #8 for amendments proposed to the 
committee. These amendments go off the original bill. There were a couple of philosophical 
things that drove my amendments. One is the debate on whether we wait for an interim study 
committee, or do we invite people from outside North Dakota to tell us, or do we try to 
implement something now? For a number of policy reasons, I think we should fully implement 
now and if the Ethics Commission disagrees they have the prerogative to do so. But there is 
value in creating certainty both for public officials and lobbyists affected by this. I share the 
concern of Senator Anderson. You can punt this to an interim committee but they are not 
going to be imbued with any greater knowledge or facts or developments that is going to 
guide them anymore than what we are.  The majority leader of the Senate appointed all of 
us to this committee because he felt we were senior legislators that have wrestled with these 
issues, both in our own campaigns and so there is no deference to holding off and hoping 
some interim committee is going to find a greater solution than what we can achieve while 
we are here hearing testimony and accessing Legislative Council for amendments. The 2nd 
thing is, if the Ethics Commission, when they are established, if they do not agree with us 
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they will have the prerogative to say something different. (Gave an example of a gift.) Both 
the House and Senate bill versions require the Ethics Commission to proceed  with the 
administrative process to be represented by the Attorney General and to require them to get 
approval from our Administrative Rules Committee before they passed any further rules. I 
split that in half. I think they should have to go through the administrative process like any 
other agency to adopt their rules but should be their prerogative if they wish to be represented 
by the Attorney General or not. I think it should be their prerogative if the rules they adopt do 
not comply with the Constitution, this constitutional measure has a measure in it that will 
remedy that. Anybody can walk into court and say they don’t agree with it. It is a highly 
unusual provision in Article XIV that says that you can do that. Typically, what would be 
provided is that either the administrative agency or the party that is being regulated can go 
in and challenge a regulation, but this says that anyone in the state of North Dakota can. I 
am not concerned about the legislature exceeding its authority relative to the commission, or 
the commission not having the authority to push back. I think that is abundantly clear that 
they do have that authority.   
(1:42:30) Walked through the amendments. 
Doesn’t support a study 
Gift Clarity 
Ultimate and True Source Addressed  
Complaints that are determined of no substance and resolved to be confidential 
Criminal Sanctions reduced 
Appropriation changed to $422,000 
 
(1:52:30) Senator Anderson: On Section, Page 1, where you talk about ultimate and true 
source, a person would be construed in state law to mean corporation, individuals etc.   
 
Chairman Hogue: A person would a natural person like you or I or it would be an entity. If 
they are incorporated, either as a LLC or a corporation. (Briefly discussed a couple of 
examples of who would have to disclose the information.) 
 
Senator Mathern: (Explained were he got the appropriation dollar amount from.) The 
amount of persons that would be in their purview is dramatically higher than the Judicial 
Ethics Commission. There you have about 3000 people and here you have about 10,000 to 
20,000 people.  However, I do appreciate that you have brought forward these amendments 
and that you requested the christmas tree version and I would ask if we could have two 
christmas tree versions – one with your amendments and one with mine.  
 
Chairman Hogue: I think that is a good suggestion. We will do that. I do not think that all 
state employees are covered. Legislative employees are covered; which includes everyone 
from Legislative Council and temporary staff during the session. Rank and file state 
employees are not covered. That is my opinion, but if you see something different, I would 
like to know about that.  
 
Senator Dever: I often find that I am the only person in the room that is not being paid to be 
there. Those are working committees. (Gave an example of a Long Term Care Association 
meeting put together to consider long term care rate setting.) There were several meetings 
and we were only provided lunch, but that would be included in this discussion. I think we 
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need to thing about all of those kinds of things.  These are things that we can put in place 
and adjust them going forward as we encounter situations that we fail to contemplate.  
 
Senator Anderson: I would like to think about construing the measure strictly. No meals, no 
food, no nothing, and the same we can do for gifts. I would suggest we think about that. It 
would save the lobbyists a lot of money.  
 
Senator Mathern: Mr. Stites is available any time for questions.  
 
Chairman Hogue: Adjourned the committee discussion on SB 2148. 
 
See Attachments #9 and #10 for additional testimony provided to the committee.  
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